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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

TAMMY BERGBAUER
Plaintiff,
V. Civil No. 09-1032 (RCL)

RAY MABUS,
SECRETARY OF THE NAVY

Defendant.
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MEMORANDUM OPINION

Defendant Secretary of the Navy (“Navy”) renews ifglotion [57] for Summary
Judgment as to plaintiff Tammy Bergbauer’s claim of hostile work environmeat lmas sexual
harassment and retaliation.

BergbauersuedNavy and Rear Admiral RDML") Charles H.Goddard in June 2009,
alleging sexual harassment and hostile work environment claims under Tif€daunts | and
II) and the D.C. Human Rights Act (Counts Il and V), as well as ba#tgaynstGoddard and
intentional infliction of emotional distresagainstGoddard and Navy. The Court granted

Goddard’s motion [18] to dismiss and granted in part Navy’s motion [7] to dismsissQrder,

! The Court dismissed all counts against Goddard all but one against Navy. Bergbauer's Human Rights Act
claims were dismissed as preempted. Mem. Op-H2 fquotingBrownv. Gen. Servs. Admjn25 U.S. 820835
(1976)). The Title VII sexual harassment claim against Navy wasis$isth because Bergbauer did not allege
tangible employment action as a result of the harassment or her refgshinit to a supervisor's demands. at

10. The IIED claim againdtlavy was dismissed after Navy asserted sovereign immunity and Berghietd
respond, and because the claim was preempted by Titlel¥liat 13. Finally, Title VIl preempted Bergbauer’'s
IIED claim against Goddard, and the statute of limitaticensdal her battery claim against Goddatd. at 13-14.
Although the Order accompanying the Court’'s Memorandum Opinion failelistiss Count | against Navy, this
omission is moot given that the Court now dismisses the case.
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ECF No. 38 only onecount remains against Navy alleging a hostile work environment based on
sexual harassment and retaliation.

Upon consideration of Navy's renewed motion for summary judgnigetgbauer’s
Opposition [60], Navy’'s Reply [64], the entire record in this case, and the applicablénéa
Court will GRANT the motion for summary judgmeand dismiss the casdergbauer has not
shown conduct sufficiently severe or pervasive to make a case of hostile wordnaresit
based on sexual harassmewhile her retaliatory hostile work environment clgmesents a
closer case, she has not shown that the alleged conduct was suffieealtg or pervasive or
that it was causally connected to her protected activity.

I BACKGROUND

Plaintiff Tammy Bergbauewas hired as aivilian program analystsubject to aneyear
probationary periodby the Naval Sea Systems Command (NAYSHEHeadquarters of the
Department of the Navy in July 200Def.’s Smt. Mat. Facts Noin Disputeff -2, ECF No.
57-1 [hereinafter Def.’s SMF]PI.’s Resp. to Def.’s SMHKY 1-2, ECF No 60 [hereinafter Pl.’s
SMF]. Bergbauetbecame Director of Corporate Operations two months &tdrhad human
resources responsibilitiedd. Bergbauer’s direct supervisarasthen Alan Weyman Weyman
and Bergbauer reported to RDMlames McManamonDef.’s SMF{ 3-4; Pl.'s SMFI 3-4.
Bergbauer also reported to RDML Goddard. Pl.’s SMF { 4.

A. Alleged Hostile Work Environment Based On Sexual Har assment?

2 Throughout the OppositiorBergbauer improperly cites to her Amended Complaint, rather than the ,régord
support her allegations. “Rule 56(e) . . . requires the nonmoving party tygadide pleadings and by her own
affidavits, or by the ‘depositions, answers to interrogagriand admissions on file,” designate ‘specific facts
showing that there is a genuine issue for trialCtlotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 324 (1986). Where the
plaintiff has cited solely to the Amended Complaint, the Court has retigbe pargs’ statements of material facts
not in dispute and has examined the record to determine if there are factgysh@eimuine issue for trial.
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Bergbaues sexual harassment hostile work environment claim stems from events
occurring fromfall 2007 through April 2008 Specfically, Bergbauer alleges thaer coworker
Cameron Towner made unspecified compliments regarding her appeargnctseveral
inappropriate suggestive comments,” and one sexually exmimiark. Def.’s SMF | 6, Pl.’s
SMF | 6. Towner allegedly told Bergbauer that his ideal way to spend a day of bad weather
would be with “Disco lights, White Russians, tomatoe [sic] soup, grilled chgese& me.”

Def.’'s MSJ, K. 5, ECF No. 57including Towner’s acknowledgementhat he discussedsoup
andsandwiches but not that he added “you and me”). Towaiserallegedly said, “I've always
wanted to be like Mr. Weyman . . . and have you in this office behind closed doors, all alone, all
by myself.” Id. On another occasion, Townercenraged Bergbauer to attend a work tailgate,
stating that she “would have a good time” and that he had “special liquor” for the thenoto

“get liquored up before the gameld. Finally, on April 22, 2008 when Bergbauer stated that

she neeed gum D freshenher breath after eating tuna, Towner told a saygutwhy he had
stopped eating tuna that involved a crass joke about oraldex.

Bergbauer also alleges thdtring oficial travel to San Diego, CAyn Februaryd, 2008,

RDML Goddardinappropriatey touched and kissetler. Def.’'s SMF § 5, Pl.'s SMF | 5.
Specifically, Bergbauer, Goddard, and two othedividuals employed by Navywent out for
dinner, drinks, and dancing after a work event. The group drank heavily, with each person
consuming five shots of tequila along with multiple beers and/or margabefss MSJ, Ex. 4,

see alsoPl.’s Opp'n, Ex. Pat 2 ECF No. 60. During the eveninBergbauer alleges that
Goddardinappropriately touched hday sliding his hand around her bacgiving her waist “a

slight squeeze . . . as if to emphasize certain points and/or to assure he had ftier atte’;

pushinghis socked foobetween her legs during dinner; tryittgggrab her hand or armhile the



two walked;puting his hand below her shirt to touch her bgaktting his handalong her waist
and movingupward toward her breast; and finally kissimgr “on the mouth for a split second
before he pushed his tonguita [her] mouth.” Def.’s MSJ, Ex. 4 at-3. The other individuals
present did not recall seeing any inappropriate touching or kiaash@soddard said he could not
recall whether he had touched hePl.’s Opp’'n, Ex. P at 811, 36 At this stage, the Cau
assumes the truth of Bergbauer’s evidence regarding the evening.

On February 10, 2008Bergbauer reportedsoddard’sconduct to her mentor, Sam
Samimi, a supervisor with the DepartmeRi.’s Opp’n, Ex. C{[ 4-5 7. Samimi then reported
it to Bergbauer’s supervisor, Alan Weyman, though the content or extent of that cdonassat
not in the record.Id. § 6. Bergbauer has made conflicting statements regarding whether she
intended to pursue corrective action or invoke the EEOC process wheepshted Goddard’s
conduct to SamimiBecause this is not ultimately relevant to the Court’s reasoning or decision,
the Court does not consider it futher.

After Townets sexually explicit remark to Bergbauer on April 22, 2008, she complained
to Weyman ad asked him to speak with Towner. Def’'s SMF § 7, Pl's SMF { 7. When
Towner was not immediately disciplined, Bergbauer asked Weyman to speRIOML
Goddard who was Towner’s direct supervisold. Bergbauer asked that Towner be removed
from employment in light of the Navy's “zero tolerangadlicy on sexual harassment.

Within three daysNavy haddirected an investigation into tlalegations against Towner
andhe wassubsequently removed from employmebtef.’s SMF q 8, 10;Pl.’s SMF 1 8, 10.

In mid-May 2008, Bergbauer was questioned by thaval Inspector General

(NAVINSGEN) afteran anonymous thirgarty complaiedabout Goddard’s conduonthe San

% Bergbauer now states that “[a]t least three men routinely sexually harasseat work. Pl’s Mem. P. & Ain
Support of Pl.’s Opp’n fhereinafter Pl.'s Mem. P. & A.]. However, she never provides additibetall about the
third man and so the Court will not consideatallegationfurther.
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Diego trip Def.’'s SMF | 11; Def.’s MSEX. 6. As a resultBergbauermpersonallyreported
Goddard’s conduct to Weymadior the first time Def.’'s MSJ,Ex. 6. The NAVINSGEN
investigation concluded that, on several occasions, Goddard had been publicly intoxicated in the
presence of subordinates and that the “instance of inappropriate touching of Ms. Benghiaue
intoxicated constituted being drunk and disorderly and was conduct unbecoming an officer a
gentleman, in violation of Article 133, UCMJ.” PIGpp’n, Ex. P, at 38. Goddard was relieved
of his position on July 3, 2008. Ds SMF | 13; Pl.’'s SMHA] 13.

B. Alleged Retaliatory Hostile Work Environment

On July 1, 2008, upon Weyman's retirement, RDML McManamon met with Bergbauer
and informed her that Mark Deskimsuld be her new supervisor. Def.’s SMF | B8;s SMF
1 18. The Admiral told Bergbauer, “you’re going to make me happy . . . you’re not going to do
to me what you did to the other admiral . . . your supervisor is going to put in your dpphata
| tell him to put in your appraisal.ld. Bergbauer “beggedMcManamonnot to assign her to
Deskins becaudeeskins hagreviously*made it clear that he didn’t like [her]” and spoke down
to her staff. Def.’$VISJ, K. 3, at 29-30, see alsd®l.’s Opp’n, Ex.L, at 4(in sworn testimony to
NAVINSGEN on July 8, 2008Bergbauer statedEveryone knew that . . we] . . . just don't
get along at afl). Bergbauer latemade a presentation to McManam®ieyman,and two
others to provide examples of Deskins’' interference with “the processes amed dutl
responsibilities that [fellunder [her] rein, and how it had been detrimental.” D&%, Ex. 2,

at114-115" Bergbauer was nevertheless assigned to Deskins.

* Bergbauer testified that, at some point around this time, Deskins waseavd by a witness willing to testify as
saying that “what was being done to the Admiral was wrong, and jBeeg] needs to pay for this.” Pl.’s Opp'n,
Ex. D at 13. However, the Court will not consider this evidence fqgsas of summary jgmnent. Although a
nonmoving party need not produce evidence “in a form that would be sildimiat trial in order to avoid summary
judgment,” Celotex Corp. v. Catrettd77 U.S. 317, 325 (1986), the evidence must be “reducible to admissible
evidence,"Catrett v. JohndManville Sales Corp.826 F.2d 33, 38 (D.C. Cir. 1987). There are two problems with
the evidence presented. First, it is hearsay within hearsay; Bergbaesr thtt a second witness overheard
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On July 3, 2008, the day Goddard was relieved of his position, Goddard met with a
number of employees. According to the parties’ statermeoit material facts, Goddard
announcede was being removed because Bergbauer had “gone after him.” Def.’s SNIF | 20
Pl’s SMF { 20 Prior to that time, only a small group of people knew that Bergbauer had
complained about Goddardd.

While Bergbauer was working under Deskisise alleges thdte engaged in a number of
actions in retaliation for hecomplaintagainst Goddard On Jdy 17, 2008, the last day of
Bergbauer’'s ongear probationary period, Deskins spoke with RDML McManamon about
terminatingher, as he had done “on a daily basis throughout her probationary .peiel.’s
SMF 1 21; Pl’'s SMF | 21Deskins gave Bergbauer at least one assignment to complete in a
short period of time and told her to “figure it out” when she said she would have to work over the
weekend. Def.’'s SMF § 22; Pl.’'s SMF { 22. He told her to post certain information walthe
of a conference room and when an admiral complained that the information should have bee
shared with him first, Deskins did nadme to Bergbauer’s defensBef.’s SMF { 23; Pl.’'s SMF
1 23. Deskinsequested cancellation of the selectoentificae for two executive assistants and
put a stop on a recruitment action without informing Bergbauer. Def.’'s SMF 1.24SMF
24. He also sent emails about woekated matters for which Bergbauer had responsibility

without copying her, and went to mdegs without telling her. Def.’s SMF | 28; Pl.’'s SMF { 28.

Deskins’ comment. Second, even if the cited witness were to teséfgpothment would remain hearsay unless it
falls under the opposing party statement exception to the hearsaySegeed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2) However, the
Court lacksevidencewith which to make this determination and thwéll not considerthe statemenhow. As to
Bergbauer’s allegation about RDML McManamon’s comments (i.e. that ‘ya@lding to make me happy . . . your
supervisor is going to put in your appraisal what | tell him to put in yppraésal”) and Goddard’s commethiat
Bergbauer had “gone after him,” the Court need not determine whether thesetatare reducible to admissible
evidence because Navy has conceded them. Def.’'s SMF {1 18, 20.

®> A NAVINSGEN investigation into Goddard’s remarks revealed conflictaports of the meeting. NAVINSGEN
called the comments “unfortunate” but found they did not rise to thédéweisconduct. Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. Q. For
purposes of summary judgment, the Court assumes that GoddaBesgliduer had “gone after him.”
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He asked her to complete redundant tasks and complained to senior leaderstneféhiat to
timely finish tasks Def.’'s SMF |1 2627; Pl.’'s SMF 11 287. Deskins cancelled, at the last
minute, a work trip Bergbauer had planned. Def.’s SMF | 29; Pl.'s SMF fHg%nce asked
outside of Bergbauer's presentieat she béfired and arrestéd because he believed she had
harassed another employe®ef.’s SMF 30; Pl.'s SMF § 30 During a staff meeting he
compared her to coarse grit sandpapeef.’s SMF 132, Pl.’'s SMF { 32 He once told her that
she did a lot of complaining and that she’d “already gotten rid of two péopkf.’s SMF 133;
Pl.’s SMF § 33 Finally, in January 2009, before he left for another job, Degians Bergbauer
a letter of reprimand and a poor performance rewdich included a rating of three out of
five.” Def.'s SMF q 31; Pl.'s SMF ¢ 31. Although itusclear from the parties’ submissions, it
appears that Navy employees’ performance ratings are tied to financial rewardhaudh
Bergbauer’s rating had been highgmewould have received slightly higher salary increase or
bonus possiblyn the order of an addition&l2% of her salary SeeDef.’s MSJ,Ex. 10, at 2
(assigning Bergbauer two “shares” amdl apparently corresponding’performance payout”
salary increase id., Ex. 12, at 2 (assigning Bergbauer three “shares” and a “performance
payout” distributed as a salary increase and bomdis)Ex. 10, at 13 (corresponding “rating of

record” withnumber ofavailable “shares?)

® Although Navy states that Deskins asked that Bergbauer be arrested ciesr wvhether this actually occurred or
when it may have happened. The exhibit to wiNelvy points in support states only that he asked that she be fired
and escorted from the buildingot that she be arrested. A separate statement by Bergbauer suggestkihst Des
asked that she be arrested, though the statement is hearsay within &edrsag not corroborated by the party who
allegedly provided the information to BergbaueBeePl.’s Opp’n, Ex. D, at 10%8. It also appears that the
incident may have occurred in late June 2008, before Deskins became Berghauewssor.ld. For purposes of

this motion, the Court will assume that Deskins asked ghatbe arrested since bgtarties have agreed to this
version of the facts.

" The performance review Navy attaches as an exhibit to its Motiort sigred by Deskins and nowhere lists his
name. Because both parties have stipulated that Deskins wrote the revieweaminddBergbauer’s rating, the
Court will assume the review was written by Deskins. Def.’'s MSJ1&x
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After Deskins lefin January 2009, her new supervisor wanted to give her a performance
rating of four for the period ending in September 2009, but sdaamters decided she deserved a
three Def.’'s SMF  34; Pl.'s SMF $4. Bergbauer’s performance rating increased fourfor
the period ending September 2010.

Bergbauer alsalleges that she was unfairly assigned to a-GEpay level rather than a
GS15 whencivilian employees in the Navy were transferred to the General Schedule pay
system in February 201vhile this suit was pefing. SeePl.’s Opp’'n 24.

Finally, Bergbauer alleges for the first tinttgat she was stripped of several important
aspects of her job, including authority over IT and security. Pl.’s Mem. P. & A. 8.

Bergbauer first contacted an EEO SpecialigiAVSEA on July 11, 2008, to lodge an
informal complaint of discrimination against Goddard and Towner. Def.’s MSJ, Ex179]1
She filed a formal complaint on September 15, 2008 for discrimination based on sexl, reprisa
and hostile work environment. Def.’s MSJ, Ex. 9. According to her Amended Complaint, she
was issued a “right to sl letter on September 16, 2008m. Compl.J 44.Bergbauer filed the
instant suit on June 3, 2089.

C. Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment

Navy now renews its motion for summary judgment. With respect to Bergbaagual

harassmenrtostile work environment claim, Navy argues that Bergbauer failed to tixiesust

8t is unclear whether Bergbauer timely filed this action but Navy hasedainy defense based this point. By
statute Bergbauemwas required to file her civil action within ninety days of receipt of itjiet to sue letterSee42
U.S.C. § 2000&(f)(1). However, the D.C. Circuit has also held that “Title VIl ctaimants must wait 180 days
after filing charges with the EEOC before they may sue in federal coMiartini v. Fed. Nat. Mortg. Ass'r78
F.3d 1336, 1347 (D.C. Cir. 1999Martini did not address how this 18y waiting period would interact with the
90-day time limit for filing suit when plaintiff's immediately receive ahigo sue lger. Regardless, the Sy
time limit is not jurisdictional and is subject to waiveBee Zipes v. Trans World Airlines, Ind55 U.S. 385, 393
(1982). Although Navy has argued that Bergbauer failed to exhaust her achtimeigemedies by initiatn EEO
contact over 45 days after the alleged harassment, Navy has never chatliertgadliness of her filing.
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her claim of harassment by Towner ahdt her claim of sexual harassment by Goddard is not
part of the same unlawful practicethatby Towner and thus should not be considered further.

With respect to Bergbauer’s retaliatory hostile work environment claim, Bigues that
the facts alleged do not establish a pattern of “severe” or “pervasive” conducitérad the
conditions of Bergbauer's work environmemtd that Bergbauer has failed to show a causal link
between her protected activity and the alleged retaliation
. LEGAL STANDARD

A. Summary Judgment

Summary judgment should be granted when “the movant shows that thergasunoe
dispute as to anyaterialfact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 56(a) (emphasis addeske alscAndeason v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 247
(1986). A fact is material if it could affect the outcome of the céde A dispute is genuine if
the “evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving laarty.”
The “evidence of the nemovant is to be believed, and plktifiableinferences are to be drawn
in his favor.” Id. at 255(emphasis added)The noamovant, however, must establish more than
“the existence of a scintilla of evidence” in support of gosition,id. at 252, and may not rely
solely on allegations or conclusory statement§&reene v. Dalton 164 F.3d671, 675
(D.C.Cir.1999); see also Celotex Corp. v. Catret77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986) (“Rule 56(c)
mandates the entry of summary judgmenteraddequate time for discovery and upon motion,
against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the exisfeaceslement
essential to that party’s case, and on which that party will bear the burden of przdf at

B. TitleVII Generally

Title VII makes it “an unlawful employment practice for an employer . . . to discuiin

against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, orgesvidd
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employment, because of . . . sex.” 42 U.S.C. § 2aqag Tite VIl separately makes it “an
unlawful employment practice for an employer to discriminate against anyldgsep . . .
because he has opposed any practice made an unlawful employment practice . . . or because h
has made a charge” under the subchapter. 42 U.S.C. §-2()0eThus, retaliation is also
prohibited.

Section 20004.6(a) makes Title VII applicable to federal agencies, and although the
language of that provision differs slightly from sections 260@9 and 20008(a), the D.C.
Circuit hasheld that Title VIl “places the same restrictions on federal . . . agencied@ess on
private employers’™” and that courts may “construe the latter provision irstefrthe former.”
Singletary v. Dist. of Columbjé851 F.3d 519, 524 (D.C. Cir. 2003 aylor v. Solis571 F.3d
1313, 1320 (D.C. Cir. 2009) Thus, federal employees may bring claims for both sexual
harassment and retaliation.

C. Method of Analysis for Hostile Work Environment Claims Based on Both
Sexual Harassment and Retaliation

Bergbauer's Amended Complaint alleges a single hostile work environmantbaaed
on sexual harassment and retaliatiomwever, it is not obvious they may be analyzed as a single
count. In moving for summary judgment, Navy has addressed them astditdints and
Bergbauer, in responding to the motion, does not appear to dispute this characterization.
Courts in our circuit have taken differing approaches to hostile work environment claims

grounded in both retaliation and substantive discriminati@ompare Baloch v. Kempthorne

® Although theSupreme Court has not explicitly held that federal employees rivayretaliation claims under Title
VII, its precedent sugges that it would CompareGomezPerez v. Potter553 U.S. 474, 488 n.4 (2008) (“While
the federakector provision of Title VII does not incorporate [the ardiiation provision in ] § 20008(a), the
federatsector provision of Title VIl does incorporate a remedial provision, § 2B0gE2)(A), that authorizes
relief for a violation of § 20006(a). The Federal Government . . . has declined to take a position on ttiengues
whether Title VII bans retaliation in federal employment and that issu# before us in this caseWith id. at 487,
491 (oldingthat the ADEA, which contains a fedesactor provision “patterned ‘directly after’ Title VII's federal
sector discrimination ban,” prohibits retaliation against a federal gxpland allows thatmployee to bring a
private causef action based on retaliation).
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550 F.3d 1191, 1201 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (appearing to analyze hostile work environment claim
based on discrimination and retaliation as a single clangNurriddin v. Bolden674 F. Supp.

2d 64, 93 (D.D.C. 2009) (dismissing hostile work environment claim based on discriminatory
and retaliatory motivesyvith Whorton v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Authhl-cv-1291RC,

2013 WL 633046 (D.D.C. Feb. 21, 2013) (separately analyzing claims of hostile work
environment based aace, gender, and retaliation).

The Court holds, at least in this case, that it is more appropriate to aBdrgbswuer’s
hostile work environment claim as two distinct claims. Retaliation and sex discriminegion a
made unlawful employmemtractices in separate sections of Title ®iid appear to be distinct
unlawful practices despite both being actionable as hostile work environment. c2nsS.C.

8§ 2000e2(a); 42 U.S.C. § 2000&(a). In this casewith the exception of the single camnt by
Goddard that plaintiff had “gone after him,” the alleged retaliation was commitelfferent
actors than the alleged sexual harassment and seems to have been motivated bgnt differ
animus®’

The Supreme Court’s language and holdind/iorgan support this conclusionThere,
the court noted that a “hostile work environment claim is composed of a serigsardtseacts
that collectively constituteone ‘unlawful employment practice.” . . . A court’s task is to
determine whether the acts about which an employee complains are parsaintsetionable

hostile work environment practice” Morgan 536 U.S. at 117, 120 (emphasis added). This

19 Other circuits have discussed this distinctioBee Noviello v. City of BostoB98 F.3d 76, 87 (1st Cir. 2005)
(“Even when retaliation is derivative of a particular act of harassnt normally does not stem from the same
animus. Most often, retaliation is a distinct and independent act of disatiom. . . .”); Morris v. Oldham Cnty.
Fiscal Courf 201 F.3d 784 79®1 (2000) (excluding retaliatory conduct from a sexual harassiostile work
environment analysis because the plaintiff did not claim that the\dsperetaliated “because of sex” atis, the
retaliatoryharassing conductwhich was in no way sexual, is not actionable as sexual harassmenT itled€tl”);

cf. Noviello, 398 F.3d at 87 (noting that whemparticular individual “sexually harasses a victim and then engages
in nonsexual retaliatory harassment, the sexual andseanal harassment arguably may be part and parcel of the
same violation” because the mesexual harassment is “still charged with the same animus™ (interretiacis
omitted)).
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suggestghe possibility fordistinct hostile work environment practicesd the Morgan court
noted that a single hostile work environment clamnstbe supported by incidents involvirtige
“ sametypeof employment actions.’ Id. at 120 (affirming circuit court’analysis on this point).
In Morgan all of thoseincidents were racially discriminatoryd.

While retaliation is necessarily linked possible or actual priatiscriminatory condugt
the Court find that any retaliatory harassment in this caseaspart ofthe same employment
practice as that based on sexual harassamhthe two should be ©sidered separately

D. Required Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies

An employee who believes her employer discriminated or retaliated adensn
violation of Title VII must seek administrative adjudication before suing in fedetat. Payne
v. Salazar 619 F.3d 56, 65 (D.C. Cir. 201Gee42 U.S.C. § 200046(c). EEOC regulations
require the employee to, “within 45 days of the date of the matter alleged to bmnidistory,”
contact an EEO counselor to try to informally resolve the matter. 29 C.F.R. § 1614.105(a)(1).
After this initial EEO contact, the employee must file an administrative complaint with her
agency within 180 or 300 days of the alleged unlawful employment pradticg.1614.106(a).
The agency then conducts an investigatiand if requested by the employee, the matter is
referred to an EEOC administrative judge for a hearilty.88 1614.106(e)(2), 1614.1:089.
After the agency investigation, or decision of the EEOC administrative judge, fheyem
agency must take “final action.ld. 8§ 1614.110. At that point an aggrieved employee may
appeal to the EEOC, or file suit in federal court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §-260fe In cases
where no “final action” is taken within 180 days after the filing of the charge WatEEOC, the

Commission will notify the aggrieved federal employee, and the employedlmaylawsuit in
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federal court within ninety days of that notice. 42 U.S.C. 88 2060e), 2000e5(1); Murthy v.
Vilsack 609 F.3d 460, 464 (D.C. Cir. 2010).

A discreteclaimis time barred if it fell outside of the 4day period prior to contact with
an EEO counselor or the 1:86r 30Gday period prior to filing of the administrative charge.
However, a hostile work environment claim will not be time barredl dfahe acts composing
the claim are part of theameunlawful employment practice, and at least one of these acts falls
within the time periodMorgan 536 U.S. at 122"

1. DISCUSSION

A. TitleVII Hostile Work Environment Based on Sexual Har assment

As already mentioned, Title VII prohibits employers from discriminating agains
individual based on gender with respect to the “compensation, terms, conditions, orgwigfleg
employment.” 42 U.S.C. § 200@&a). However, thé\ct bars not onlydiscreteor tangible
employmentdecisions but also a “hostile or abusive woekivironment, for which economic or
tangible impacheed not be shownMeritor Sav. Bank, FSB v. Vinsof77 U.S. 57, 66 (1986).
Thus, &xual harassmembay form the basis of a hostile work environment claimd amount to
unlawful discrimination Id.

To prove ahostileenvironmenbased on sexual harassmehe plaintiff must show:

(1) [she] was a member of a protected class; [&)e] was subjected ot

unwelcome[ ] sexual harassment . . . ; (3) the harassment complained of was

based upon sex; (4) the charged sexual harassment had the effect of unreasonably
interfering with the plaintiff's work performance and creating an intimidatin

 Morgan dealt with the 18@ay statutory deadline for filing an EEOC charge and not thdagSregulatory
requirement for contact with an EEO counselor. 536 B£304. Nevertheless, courts have applitaganto the
45-day regulatory time limit. See e.g, Greer v. Paulson505 F.3d 1306, 1313 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (implicitly
suggesting that thilorgan standard applies to the 4fay period);Lyons v. England307F.3d 1092, 1106 n.6 (9th
Cir. 2002) (“Although the circumstances in which [thed&y limit] may be equitably tolled are no doubt broader
than the tolling opportunities under [42 U.S.C. § 26@0Qe)], . . . the mandatory nature of the federal regulation is
sufficient to warrant full application of tHdorganrule.”).
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hostile, or offensive working environment . . . ; and (5) the existence of
respondeat superior liability.

Davis v. Coastal Int’ Sec., Inc. 275 F.3d 1119, 1123 (D.C. Cir. 200dhternal citation
omitted))*?

The first three elements of thitaim are generally easily satisfiathenbased on sexual
harassment of a female employee by a malevader or supervisor Seeid. (“[W]hen ‘the
challenged conduct . . . involves explicit or implicit proposals of sexual activityeles
members of the opposite sex ‘it is reasonable to assume those proposals would not have been
made to someone of the same sex . .1d.”(quotingOncale v. 8ndowner Offshore Servs., Inc.

523 U.S. 75 (1998)). However, sexually crude remarks, as opposed to adwapaest
necessarily actionable if they waret made because of the plaintiff's sex

It is more difficult for plaintiffs todemonstrate that harassment rose to the level of an
actionable hostile environmen#®laintiffs must show harassing retaliatorybehavior thatvas
“sufficiently severe or pervasiv® alter the condition®f the victim’s employmenand create an
abusive working environment.’"Meritor, 477 U.S. at 67 (emphasis added) (internal quotation
marks omitted) The plaintiff need not show tangible or economic employment action, nor need
she demonstrate “tangible psychological injurydarris v. Forklift Sys., In¢.510 U.S. 17, 21
(1993) However, theallegedconduct must be more than “merely offensivdd. It must be
severe or pervasive enough to “constructive[ly] alter[]] . . . the terms or coddiof
employment.” Burlington Indus.)nc. v. Ellerth 524 U.S. 742, 752 (1998). “Mere utterance of

an . . . epithet which engenders offieasfeelings in [an] employe&loes not sufficiently affect

12 Although the existence of respondeat superior has been framed as pamlafritiff's caseat least in the context
of harassment by a supervidbis an affirmative defense which must tz@sed initially in the employer’s answer
and for which the employer has the burden of pré&ée Jones v. Dist. of Columbia Dept. of GotR9 F.3d 276,
279 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (citingellerth, 524 U.S. at 765Faragher, 524 U.S. at 807). Thus, the pldfif's burden to
show respondeat superior liability is not high.
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the conditions of employment to implicate Title VIIHarris, 510 U.S. at 21 (quotinifleritor,
477 U.S. at 67). The conduct must be both objectively hpahlgsubjectively perceived by the
victim as hostile or abusivend “unwelcome.”ld. at 21-22; Meritor, 477 U.S. at 68.

To determine whether an environment is “hostile,” courts looko t*“all the
circumstances,’ including ‘the frequency of the discriminatory condwscsenerity; whether it is
physically threatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive utterance; artievhieunreasonably
interferes with an employee’s work performariceMorgan 536 U.S at 116 (quotingHarris,
510 U.S. at 23). In considering the totality of the circumstances, howevers sbauid be
mindful that:

Everyone can be characterized by sex; and many bosses are harsh, unjust and

rude. It istherefore important in hostile work environment cases to exclude from

consideration personnel decisions that lack a linkage of correlation to timedlai

ground of discrimination. Otherwise, the federal courts will become a court of
personnel appeals.

Bryant v. Brownlee265 F. Supp. 2d. 52, 63 (D.D.C. 2003) (quotkifano v. Costello294 F.3d
365, 377 (2d Cir. 2002)).

Finally, plaintiffs must ultimatelyshow that the employer is vicariously liable for the
unlawful conduct. Faragher,524 U.S. aB07-08. If the hostile work environent was created
by a supervisowith immediate or successive authority over the employee, the employer may
raise an affirmative defense liability. 1d. “The defense comprises two necessary elements: (a)
that the employeexercised reasonable care to prevent and correct promptly any sexually
harassing behavior and (b) that the plaintiff employee unreasonalkely faitake advantage of
any preventive or corrective opportunities provided by the employer or to avoid harm
othewise.” When harassment is inflicted by neunpervisory ceworkers, vicarious liability

“depends on the plaintiff showing that the employer knew (or reasonably should have known)
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about the harassment but failed to take appropriate remedial acRetrdsino v. Bell At).385
F.3d 210, 225 (2d Cir. 2004) (citifgaragher, 524 U.S. at 789)°
1 Bergbauer Timely Exhausted Her Claim of Harassment By Towner

Navy asserts that Plaintiff did not contact its EEO office about the allegasshagnby
Towneruntil more than a month after the-d8y deadline for initiating administrative remedies.
Def.’'s Mem. P. & A. 8. Bergbauer asserts that she timely exhausted becauspated the
harassment to her supervisor the same day as the last act of alldgdssment.

Navy has previously raised the same argument and the Court decided the issue in its
September 2011 Memorandum Opinion. Although that Opinion responded to Navy’s argument
in a motion to dismiss context, the Court finds no reason to chanmgasisning or decisionin
its earlier Opinion, the Court stated

While the Secretary is correct that EEOC regulations require Title VII

complainants to make EECunselor contact within 45 days of any allegedly

discriminatory or retaliatory act, the purpose served by EEO contacb iseaiged
where a complainant brings such acts to the attention of a supertisyd v.

13 Courts generally apply th#cDonnell Douglasburdenshifting framework to analyze traditional Title VII
disparate treatment claims and retaliation clain®ee Taylor v. Solis571 F.3d 1313, 1320 (D.C. Cir. 2009);
Holbrook v. Renp196 F.3d 255, 263 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (“Claims of retaliation are governethéoli¢Donnell
Douglasburdenshifting framework.”). This framework requires that the pi#ifirst establish a prima facie case
of discrimination by a preponderance of the evidence; second the employer muestt predegitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for its actions; and third, the plaintiff mtabksh that the employer’s nondiscriminatory
reason is a pretext to mask unlawfuladisination. McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greed11 U.S. 792, 8604
(1973); see alsoTexas Dep'’t of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdind50 U.S. 248, 2553 (1981);St. Mary’s Honor Ctr. v.
Hicks 509 U.S. 502, 506 (1993). The burden of persuasion is always heitiplaintiff, only the burden of
production shifts.Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., B®80 U.S. 133, 153 (2000). Although the D.C. Circuit
appears to have, on occasion, endorsed application oMtizonnell Douglasframework to hostile work
envirnment claimsseeDuren v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Ayte004 WL 2857273, *1 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (per
curiam);Stewart v. Evan275 F.3d 1126, 1134 (D.C. Cir. 2002)), Judge Urbias pointed to authority suggesting
that the framework does not apply to hostile work environment claBas. Baloch v. Nortor855 F. Supp. 2d 246,
259 (D.D.C. 2005) (citing cases suggesting that, on a motion for sunulgmyent of a hostile work eneinment
claim, courts simply assess the totality of the circumstances). Bhit'Creview of cases in our circuit likewise
suggests that th®cDonnell Douglasframework does not apply to hostile work environment clairBge, e.g.
Baloch v. Kempthorné&50 F.3d 1191, 1201 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (applyMgDonnell Douglasstandard to substantive
Title VII claim but totality of the circumstances standard to hostile work emwient claim);Akonji v. Unity
Healthcare, Inc. 517 F. Supp. 2d 83, 97 (D.D.C. 200@pglying McDonnell Douglasframework to disparate
treatment and retaliation claims but not to hostile work environment claiiaen @e foregoing, this Court will not
engage in aMcDonnell Douglagtype analysis but will instead evaluate whether Bergbhaermade out hostile
work environment claims based on the totality of the circumstances.
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Chag 240 F. Supp. 2d 1,8 (D.D.C. 2002). Ms. Bergbauer brought Mr.
Towner’s inappropriate comments to the attention of her supervisor (Alan
Weyman) on April 22, 2008, Am. Compl. [34 1127, 28, and so her complaint

as to that alleged misconduct was timely. Furthermore, under the Supreme

Court’s decision inMorgan since that act was timely exhausted, the Secretary

faces potential liability as to all other acts, even outside the filing period, so long

as they constitute the same unlawful employment practice. 536 U.S. at 122.

Therefore, wHe the incident in San Diego in February 2008 took place well

outside the 4%lay limit for EEO counselor contact, so long as that event is part of

the same unlawful employment practice as subsequent acts of sexual Batassm

the Secretary may be liable.

Mem. Op. 11.

While Navy does not formally move for reconsiderati@naccurately states that the
Courtmaymodify interlocutory orders “as justice requirés.Def.’s Reply 5 (quotingricken v.
Golden 696 F. Supp. 2d 21, 335 (D.D.C. 2010)). Factors tlewurt may consider under the
“as justice requires” standard include whether the court “has patentinaeistood a party, has
made a decision outside the adversarial issues presented to the [c]ourt biiebehzer made an
error not of reasoning, but of apprehension, or where a controlling or significagiecimatine
law or facts [has occurred] since the submission of the issue to the deiakeén 696 F. Supp.
2d at 34-35 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). “These consideratiorsdegreat
deal of room for the court’'s discretion and, accordingly, the ‘as justice reqsitandard
amounts to determining ‘whether [relief upon] reconsideration is necessary thedeievant
circumstances.”ld. at 35.

Navy argues thatloyd v. Chao cited by the Court in itearlier Opinion, has been
“clarified and distinguished” by the EEOCSeeDef.’s MSJ 1611 (citing Arnold v. Donahog
EEOC Request No. 0520110207 (June 23, 2011hlowever, this does not amount to a

controlling or significant change in the law since submission of the issue to courtEED®@

14 District courts may reconsider interlocutory decisions “at any tieferb the entry of judgment adjudicating all
the claims and the rights and liabilities of dletparties.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 54(b). A party need not move for
reconsideration.
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decision occurred prior to the Court issuing its Memorandum Opinionhefudthough courts
give “great deferenceto the EEOC in construing Title VIMcDondd v. Santa Fe Trail Transp.
Co, 427 U.S. 273, 279 (1976), courts are not bound by EEOC decisions.

The Court finds no other reason to reconsider. ThdadATitle VII time limit is not
jurisdictional and courts can permit equitable tolling under exdmary circumstances.See
Killingsworth v. Pottey 307 F. App’x 685, 688 (3d Cir. 2009) (not selected for publication)
(citing examples such as where a plaintiff timely asserted hersrighthe wrong forum
Moreover, reconsideration at this late stage, after Navy failed to movectmnsideration of the
Court’s earlier Opinion, would be inequitable in a case that is nhow over three yekarshals,
the Court finds that plaintiff timely exhausted her mldd the extent it was based on actions by
Towner. In its earlier Opinion, the Court left open for consideration whether Towner's
harassment was part of the “same unlawful employment practice” as Godaatdisus whether
a claim based on Goddard's cootwould be time barred The Courtnow considerghis
guestion.

2. Goddard Incident Part of Same Unlawful Employment Practice as
Towner Comments

The Goddard incident occurrexver 45 days prior to Bergbauer initiating contact with
her supervisor. Thus, would be timebarred if not part of the “same unlawful employment
practice” as at least one of the acts by Towner that fell within thdayPeriod before April 22,
2008 (i.e. on or after about March 8, 2008peMorgan, 536 U.S. at 12%°

Bergbauer arges that the acts by Goddard and Towner were part of the same unlawful
practice, essentially because the alleged incidents were all of a sexual or roratun; n

Goddard and Towner worked in the same division of NAVSEA, and Goddard and Towner acted

5 Two interactions between Towner and Bergbauer occurred beyond -teey 4ne periocbut Navy does not
dispute that these woulik part of the same employment practice
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in concert and were aware of one another’s conduct. Pl.’s Mem. P. & A. at 36. The Clourt wil
not consider this last allegation further because Bergbauer provides no suppgft for it

Navy respondghat the “mere fact that Towner and Goddard worked in the same office
and both allegedly engaged in sexually harassing behavior does not, without more, desrenstrat
discriminatory policy or practice such that their alleged acts should be viewsdffiagently
related for purposes of administrative exhaustion.” Def.’s Mem. P. & ANy suggests that
Goddards actsoccurred during a discrete period of time, during a social outing away from the
workplace, and were never repeatdd. at 15-16. In cotrast, Towner’s remark®ccurred in
the workplace over approximately five mositid. at 16. Navy asserts that there is no evidence
thatGoddard and Towneacted in concert or that either knew of the other’'s behavibr Navy
also points to Bergbauer’s failure to pursugerective action againgéoddard when the Navy
began to investigate the comments by Towrer.

There is little caselaw in our circuit &lucidate what constitutes the “same unlawful
employment practice.In Morgan, the Supreme Court affirmed the Ninth Circuit’s finding that
incidents constituted the same actionable hostile environment claim because/tihsdi “the
same type of employment actions, occurred relatively frequently, and weyetqated by the
same managers.’Morgan 536 U.S. at 120 (quotingorgan v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Car@g32
F.3d 1008, 1017 (9th Cir. 2000pee alsdBaird v. Gotbaum662 F.3d 1246, 1251 (D.C. Cir.
2011) (citing the same factorsgl. (“[A]cts before and after the limitatns period [that areo

similar in nature, frequency, and severity . must be considered to be part and parcel of the

'® She bases her assertion on Towner’s statement that he was going ta bsimegial kind of liquor” to a tailgate

for her, which she interpreted to be a reference to the tequila ahk @ith Goddard in San Diego. However,
Towner stated that he was refagito White Russians because he had seen Bergbauer drinking them at an office
Christmas Party. Pl.’s Opp’'n, Ex. O, encl. 16. Thhsyé is insufficient evidence, even making all “justifiable
inferences” in favor of plaintiff, to infer that Towner anddélard knew of one another’s conduct, much less that
they acted in concert.
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hostile work environment . . . .”” (quoting/ilkie v. Dep’t of Health & Human Sery$€38 F.3d
944, 951 (8th Cir. 2011)).

The D.C. Circuit recently acknowledged that many of the formulations ferrdeting
whether incidents constitute the same actionable hostile environment claim “ast anly
rather general, but neither the Supreme Court nor any circuit seems ggetofferedanything
more illuminating.” Baird, 662 F.3dat 1251. However, theCircuit has addresseth at least one
case,whether events were part of the “same unlawful employment préctite Vickers v.
Powell the Circuitrevieweda district court decision whidmadheld on summary judgmerntat
alleged incidents involving coarse behavior and sexual and sexist comments by ons@upe
were not part of the sameactionable hostilework environment created by a subsequent
superviso which involved the exchange of harsh words “in the context of [the supervisor’s]
exercise of normal supervisory functions . . . such as administering perforappesls,
inquiring into an employee’s use of sick leave, and inquiring into time management of his
subordinates.” 493 F.3d 186, 19® (D.C. Cir. 2007)quotingVickers v. PowelINo. 03174,
2005 WL 3207775, at *33 (D.D.C. Nov. 21, 2005)). Tiecuit held that the district court had
erred and that

[The] allegations were [not] so different in kind that, as a matter of law, we can

conclude that they were not part of the same hostile work environment. The line

between [one supervisor] creating a hostile environment through sexual conduct

and his deputyurned successor . . . perpetuating the environment by condoning

the same is not so welkefined to say that thfsupervisors’]acts have ‘no
relation’ as required iMorgan

Id. at 199. The Circuit held this despite the fact thiaé conduct was perpetrated by different
supervisors, was of different types (sexual and-sexual), and occurred over a span of eight

years prior to théimely reported events
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Were it not for the D.CCircuit’s decision inVickers this Court would conclude that the
Goddard incidentvas not part of the same unlawful practice as Towr@mments.While the
events were sexual nature omay have hadomantic undertones, tlaets were perpetrated by
different individuals at different levels of the organizatiemne asupervisorthe other a co
worker. Moreover, the incidents took place in entirely different setthogge at a social
gathering during an odf-town work trip and the other at work during business hours. The
Goddard incidentook place once and was never repeated whereas the comments by Towner
occurred several times over an approximalfiely month period.

In light of Vickers however, the Court cannas a matter of lawgonclude that they are
not part of the same unlawful employment practidéws,the Court cannot concludeat the
Goddard incidenis time-barred However, as explained below, even with the inclusion of the
Goddard incidentBergbauehas not showtha the alleged harassment is actionable.

3. Plaintiff Has Not Shown Severe or Pervasive Sexual Harassment
Sufficient to Create Hostile Work Environment

Although Navy arguesfor summary judgmenobn the basis of Bergbauer's supposed
failure to exhaustit fails to address whether the alleged conduct risethe level of a hostile
work environment. Nevertheless, the Court holds that, as a matter of law, the pghaisitifot
demonstratedevere or pervasive conduct sufficient to constitute a hostile work emegrdan
SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(f) (“After giving notice and a reasonable time to respond, the cgurt ma
. grant [a summary judgment] motion on grounds not raised by a patty.”).

Again, to be actionable under a hostile work environment theory, harassmenso be

severe or pervasive as to “constructive[ly] alter[] . . . the terms or comsliof employment.”

7 Although the Court has not given notice of its intention to grant summary grdgmnthis ground there is no
prejudice to Bergbauer becaubés is a keyelement of her casand she is aware that she musttow harassment
sufficiently severer pervasive as to affect her employment.
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Burlington Indus., Inc. v. Ellerttb24 U.S. 742, 752 (1998). The analysis involves consideration
of the totality of the circumstancesee Oncke, 523 U.S. at 81, and the assessment of the
severity of the alleged harassment should include “careful consideration swdilaé context in
which particular behavior occurs and is experienced by its targeat 81.

Although the standarbr a hostie work environmentequiresthatconduct be severar
pervasive, courtgenerally find actionable claims only whetes conduct is both quite severe
and pervasive® Isolated incidents, if extraordinarily severe, may be sufficient to coestitu
actionableharassment. However, the cases supporting this view are not uniform or from our
circuit.'® In our circuit,evenmultiple instances gbhysical contacand sexual advances may not

be sufficient to meet the demanding legal standard for a hostile work envirofAfnent.

8 See Faragher524 U.S. at 782 (finding actionable hostile environment where, axgydar period, supervisors
repeatedly touched and sexually pyspioned female lifeguards, made lewd remarks and gestures, spokemehwo
in offensive terms)Meritor, 477 U.S. at 60 (finding hostile work environment where supervisatéasplaintiff
have sex with him during and after work, followed her into tlsroem, fondled her in front of other employees,
and raped her)Gary v. Long 59 F.3d 1391, 1397 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (“[Supervisor]'s repeated verbal and ahysic
harassment of [plaintiff], culminating in a rape, is ‘not only pervaba@assment but also criminal conduct of the
most serious nature’ that is ‘plainly sufficient to state a claim for hostiliecgrment sexual harassment.” (quoting
Meritor, 477 U.S. at 67))Simms v. Ctr. for Corr. Health & Policy Studjg®94 F. Supp. 2d 173, 193 (D.D.C. 2011)
(reasonable jury could find hostile work environment whersvoker asked out plaintiff every time he saw her,
harassed her daily for two years by commenting on her appearance, askigher $ody, staring at her, and
undressing her with his eyes, apldysically accosted her at workjphnson v. Shinselk811 F. Supp. 2d 336, 346
(D.D.C. 2011) (jury could find hostile work environment wherenmoker made inappropriate comments, behavior
intensified over time, and eworker “began a course of physidatimidation and contact with [plaintiff] that
included attempts to kiss her, uninvited visits to her office, solicitafmmsex, grabbing and pinching of her breast,
and grabbing and spanking of her behind”).

9 Compare, e.g.Quantock v. Shared Mktgefs, 312 F.3d 899, 904 (7th Cir. 2002) (during one encounter,
company president requested sex three times from plaintiff with wigowohked in close quarters, thus reasonable
jury could find conduct sufficiently severa)orth v. Tyer276 F.3d 249 (7th Cir. 2001) (harassment spanning just
two days was sufficiently severe to support a claim where supermade inappropriate comments, touched
plaintiff on her head, neck, and shoulders, and reached into her dress tha@obchast)Moring v. Arkansas Dep't

of Corr.,, 243 F.3d 452 (8th Cir. 2001) (supervisor made indirect threats about fitasdiety, came to her hotel
room late at night during overnight business trip and refused to leaved giechand on her thigh and triedkies
her), with McKenzie v. Ill. Dep’t of Transp92 F.3d 473, 480 (7th Cir. 1996) (three sexually suggestive comments
by a ceworker did not unreasonably interfere with plaintiff's work enviremt), Brooks v. City of San Mate@29
F.3d 917, 927 (9th €i 2000) (finding no hostile work environment wherevearker once touched plaintiff's
stomach, commented on its sexiness, and forced his hand below her smdatra to fondle her breast).

2'5ee Akoniji v. Unity Healthcare, InG17 F. Supp. 2d 83, 999 (D.D.C. 2007) (acts of sexual harassment by
supervisor, including touching plaintiff's buttocks and thigh, trying &s kier, calling her beautiful, and asking her
to accompany him on weekend trip, “although by no means ideal laoegkponduct, [werejot ‘sufficiently severe
or pervasive to alter the conditions of [Akonji's] employment andteraa abusive working environment.
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Furthermore, ncidents involving oly verbal comments, particularly by -emrkers, must
generally be quite pervasive and severe to be actiofafimally, although not explicitly part

of the analysissomecourts consider remedial action taken by the employer in determining
whether a hostile work environment exisféd.

Bergbauers claim simply daes not meet the demanding standard for a hostile work
environment claim; the conduct is not sufficiently “severe or pervasive’dothlt conditions of
her employment. The allegations against Towner amount to unspecified complimentseabout
looks, comments that could be seen as romantically or sexually suggestive, ass| aestually
explicit joke?® The allegations against Goddard, whitechmore serious, involve an isolated
incident, outside of the workplace, that was never repeated. Although Bergbaydrane
subjectively perceived the environment to be abusive, she has not shown that ijectgebp
abusive or hostile.The conduct appears less severe and less pervasivéhiheonductalleged

in cases whereourts havggrantedsummary judgment for the defendant employ8ee supra

(quoting Harris, 510 U.S. at 21))Carter v. Greenspan304 F. Supp. 2d 13, 25 (D.D.C. 2004) (“Assuming that
plaintiff's allegations that [cavorker] ‘caressed [him] on his knee,’ ‘placed her breast on [his] arm,’@dacded her
fingers on [his] buttocks’ are true . . . these three isolated incidents asafficiently severe in quantity or quality
to unreasonably interfereith plaintiff's work performance or create a hostile work envirenti).

Z see Clark Cnty. School Dist. v. BreedB82 U.S. 268 (2001) (no actionable harassment where malerker
and supervisor chuckled about comment a third party had made lteague that “I hear making love to you is like
making love to the Grand CanyonWebbEdwards v. Orange Cnty. Sheriff's Office25 F.3d 1013, 1027 (11th
Cir. 2008) (holding that comments by supervisor that pléintéfs hot and needed to wear tightestises, made
weekly over 8week period, were not severe or pervasiBgskerville v. Culligan Int'l Cq.50 F.3d 428, 430 (7th
Cir. 1995) (no actionable harassment where supervisor made nine suggygesaiments, called plaintiff “pretty
girl,” and gruntedvhen she wore a leather skirt).

22 See Brooks v. City of San Mate229 F.3d 917, 924 (9th Cir. 2000) (‘[l]f the employer takes appropriate
corrective action, it will not have ratified the conduct. In such circumses it becomes difficult to say that a
reasonable victim would feel that the terms and conditions of her employraea changed as a result of the
misconduct.”);WebbEdwards v. Orange Cnty. Sheriff's Offic&5 F.3d 1013, 1028 (11th Cir. 2008) (noting just
prior to affirming summary judgmérfor defendant employer that employer took immediate action to redress
plaintiff's grievances).

% Making all justifiable inferences in favor of Bergbauer, the Coilttassume that all of Towner's comments were
directed at Bergbauer because of her skbawever, this is not selvident. For example, Towner encouraged
Bergbauer to attend a tailgate and said he had “special liquor” for themcathil be a romantic overture but could
just as easily be interpreted as a friendly effort to encourage aleawo attend a workelated event. Moreover,
although Towner told a crass and extremely inappropriate joke, the setued of the joke does not automatically
suggest that it was directed at Bergbauer because of her sex.
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n.18 The conduct involved only one incident of physical touching and that incident, as already
stated, took place outside of the workplace, outside of work hours, in a sociabsitnathich
all present were drinking heavily. Towner’s conduct involved only a handful of verbal
comments made by a nsuperviery coworker and these were less severe and pervasive than
the comments made even in cases where summary judgment has been entered fooyke. empl
Compare Simmsupran.18 Shinsekisupran. 18, with McKenzie,supran.19 Breedensupra
n.21, Baskerville supran.21.

Finally, of relevance to whether the workplace could reasonably continue to be perceived
as hostile, Navy promptly took corrective action once plaintiff reported the coofdliotvner to
her supervisor. Moreover, the Naval InspecGeneral proactively contacted Bergbauer in
response to an anonymous thparty complaint about Goddard’s conduct and Navy quickly
relieved him of his position.

B. Retaliatory Hostile Work Environment

1. Legal Standard

Again, separate Title VII provisions bar discrimination based on protected stdttisaa
based on protected activitheed2 U.S.C. § 20008¢a) (antidiscrimination provisionicl. §
2000e-3(a) (antiretaliation provision). As with discrimination basegrotected class, a hostile
work environment may constitute retaliation under Title &fitl mostederal circuits now
recognize a retaliatory hostile work environment cla@owski v. Peake682 F.3d 1299, 1311
(11th Cir. 2012).There is some debate tswhether the Supreme Court has formally recognized
such a clainbut the Court has not foreclosed it eith8ee Stewart v. Indep. School Dist. No.

196, 481 F.3d 1034, 1042 (8th Cir. 2007) (interpreting the Supreme Court’s decision in
Burlington Northern & Santa Fe Railway Co. v. Whid8 U.S. 53, 60 (2006) to “expressly”

recognize and define retaliatory hostile work environment claims).
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Logically, the elements oA retaliatory hostile work environment claim are simitar
those of a discriminatory hole work environment claim A plaintiff must show thashe
engaged in activity protected by Title VBhe suffered actionable retaliatory harassment; the
defendant knew of plaintiff's protected activity and there was a causal connediieiedhe
harassment and that activity; and the existenceespondeat superidiability. SeeMorris, 201
F.3dat 792 (outlining standard for retaliatory hostile work environment).

a. Legal standard for actionable retaliatory harassment after
Burlington Northern

Courts in our circuit typically apply the same legal standard as that usdédei
discriminatory harassment context to determine whether retaliatory harassnamionable.
Specifically, plaintiffs must show retaliatory harassment that is “suffigiesatVere or pervasive
to alter the conditions of the victim’'s employménBaird v. Gotbaum662 F.3d 1246, 1250
(D.C. Cir. 2011)(emphasis addedHussain v. Nicholsgm35 F.3d 359, 366 (D.C. Cir. 2006)
(noting that plaintiff must show “intimidation, ridicule, and insult of such severity or
pervasivenesas to alter the conditions of [her] employmamid create an abusive environment”
(emphasis added) (internal quotation marks omittd&bjjnette v. ShinsekNo. 162110, 2012
WL 5986466, at *20 n.11 (D.D.C. Nov. 30, 2012) (“[T]he legal standard is the same for either
[discriminatory or retaliatory harassment].” (citiBgloch v. Kempthornes50 F.3d 1191 (D.C.
Cir. 20(8)).

The Court will apply this standard to Bergbauer’s claim. However, itaéeanwhether
applying the same standard to discriminatory and retaliatory hostile wonomment claims
remains appropriate aft@urlington Northern Because our Circuitloes not appear to have

addressed this question, the Court outlines its view of the matter in some detail below
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In Burlington Northern the Court made clear that the standards for retaliation and
discrimination are not “coterminous” and that the protections provided for victimsabatien
may be broader than those for victims of discriminatid@urlington N, 548 U.S. at 60.In
traditional discrimination cases, plaintiffs must show that they suffered aersssdemployment
action” which amountedto a change in “compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of
employment.” SeeBrady v. Office of Sergeant of Arn20 F.3d 490, 493 (D.C. Cir. 2008
U.S.C. 8§ 2000&(a) However,Burlington Northernmade clear that Title VII's antiretaliation
provision “is not limited to discriminatory actions that affect the terms and conditions of
employment. . . . [The provisions] are not coterminous. The scope of the antiretaliation
provision extends beyond workplacsated or employmesrelated retalieory acts and harm.”

548 U.S. at 6467 (emphasis added). The Court went on to hold that, to succeed on a retaliation
claim, “a plaintiff must show that a reasonable employee would have foundattenged action
materially adverse ‘which in this contek means itwell might have dissuaded reasonable
worker from making or supporting a charge of discriminationld. at 68 (emphasis added)
(internal citations omitted). As an example, the Court suggested that exclusiorempbyee

from “a weekly traning lunch that contributes significantly to the employee’s professional
advancement might well deter a reasonable employee from complaining” and tihusbmni
actionable.ld. at 69.

In reaching its conclusion, the Court focused on differences in the language andpurpose
of the antiretaliation and antidiscrimination provisions. With respect to the antidisation
provision, the Court stated that the words “hire,” ‘discharge,’ ‘compensation,,teomgitions,
or privileges of employment,’ . . . elkgtly limit the scope of that provision to actiotizat affect

employment or alter conditions of the workpladéo such limiting words appear in the
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antiretaliation provision.”Burlington N, 548 U.S. at 62 (emphasis added). Moreover, the
purposes of the two provisions differ. The antidiscrimination provision furthesVIl's
primary objective of preventing discrimination based on status; the “antiretalptoision
seeks to secure that primary objective” by preventing employers fromenngnivith

employees’ effort$o enforce the actld. at 63. “[O]ne cannot secure the second objective by
focusing only upon employer actions and harm that concern employment and the workplace.”
Id. The Court thusejected the contention that it is “anolmas’ to read the statute to provide
broader protection for victims of retaliation than for those whom Title VII prlynseeks to
protect . . .. Interpreting the antiretaliation provision to provide broad protection fralratien
helps ensure the operation upon which accomplishment of the Act’s primary objective
depends.”Id. at 67.

The Supreme Court’s reading calls into question how cbakts since analyzed
retaliatoryhostile work environmerdlaims The hostile work environment standard was
initially developed and applied, prior Burlington Northernin the context ofubstantive
discrimination®® See Meritor 477 U.Sat65—66 (noting thaRogers v. EEOCA54 F.2d 234
(5th Cir. 1971), a case allegingtional origindiscrimination, was agently the first case to
recognize a hostile work environment cause of action and that other courts had appiiedrthe
to harassment based on race, religion, and national or@oyrts thus framed the claiim
terms of the language of § 2000e-2 #melneed for harassment to be sufficiently severe as to
affect the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment.” Thud\igritor, the Supreme

Courtstated the language of Title Vik not limited to ‘economic’ or ‘tangible’ discrimination.

%4 See Meritor Sav. Bank, FSB v. Vinsdi7 U.S. 57, 656 (1986) (noting thaRogers v. EEO(454 F.2d 234 (5th

Cir. 1971), a case alleging discrimination based on national origis,apparently the first case to recognize a
hostile work environment cause of action and that otheitctiad applied the cause of action to harassment based
on race, religion, and national origin).
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The phase terms, conditions, or privileges of employmeninces a congressional intent ‘to
strike at the entire spectrum of disparate treatment of men and women’ in employ#én
U.S. at 64 (emphasis added). The court went on to note

[N]ot all workplae conduct that may be described as “harassment” affects a

“term, condition, or privilegeof employment within the meaning of Title VII. . .

. For sexual harassment to be actionable, it must be sufficiently severe or

pervasive to alter the conditions dthe victim’s] employmerdnd create an
abusive working environment.”

Id. at67 (1986) (emphasis added) (quottignson v. City of Dunde682 F.2d 897, 904 (11th
Cir. 1982)).

Other cases hav&ewiseemphasized thinkage between the language of § 2000e-2 and
the hostile work environment standai®ee Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs,, 328 U.S.
75, 80 (1998) (“The prohibition of harassment on the basis of sex . . . forbids only behavior so
objectively offensive as to alter theonditions’ of the victim’s employmehiemphasis
added))id. (*The critical issue,Title VII's text indicatesis whether members of one sex are

exposed to disadvantagedasmns or conditions of employment. .”” (emphasis adde})
Faragher, 524 U.Sat 788 (“[S]imple teasing,” offhand comments, and isolated incidents
(unless extremely serious) will not amount to discriminatbigngesn the ‘terms and
conditions of employmetiit(emphasis added)).

By the time the Supreme GadulecidedBurlington Northernin 2006, the majority of
federal circuits had recognized tHathostile work environmerdanamount to retaliatioi.
Hussain 435 F.3d at 366,ee Gowski682 F.3dat 1311 (listing eight circuits, including our own,
as recgnizing a retaliatory hostile work environment claim prioBtglington Northerm.

Those circuits appear to have applied the same substantive hostile work envirstamesutd

(“sufficiently severe or pervasive ‘to alter the conditions of the vidtiemployment™) to

retaliatory hostile work environments as well.
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Since2004§ at least three Circuits haapplied a standard more consistent with
Burlington Northernin retaliatory hostile work environmeanéses The Eighth Circuit read
Burlingtonitself as “expressly [holding] that retaliation claims under Titleddlld be based on
a hostile work environment” arak“establish[ing] a standard to define the concept of a hostile
work environment for the purpose of retaliation claims under Titlé' \@kewart v. Indep.
School Dist. No. 196481 F.3d 1034, 1042 (8th Cir. 2007). The First and Third circuits recently
applied a retaliatory hostile work environment standard which requires tHettoeya
harassment be “materially adverse™ such that it ““well might have dissuadsabanable
worker from making or supporting a charge of discriminatiodRarado v. Donahae587 F.3d
453, 461 (1st Cir. 2012) (quotirgurlington Northernand applying the standard in a
Rehabilitation Act caseMoore v.City of Philadelphia461 F.3d 331, 341, 346 (3d Cir. 2006)
(similan.®

Courts in our Circuit do not appear to have reconsidered the retaliatory harassment
standard in light oBurlington Northern A good argument can be made that courts shouud
do so. Rather than askimghetherretaliatoryharassment was so severe or pervasive as to alter
the terms and conditions of employment, courts wouldrdetherthe harassmentould deter a
reasonable employee from engaging in protected activity.

Neverthelessat least three contrary arguments convince this Court that it musttapply
more stringent standard tthe case at hand. irt, the D.C. Circuit describes retaliatory hostile
work environment claims in terms of tlscrimination standard andhts is the consistent

practice among district judges in our circuithe Court cannot ignore this precedent.

% The Tenth Circuit may likewise apply the more lenient material adyestindard to retaliatory hostile work
environment claims, thoughis is urtlear. See Allstate Sweeping, LLC v. Blad06 F.3d 1261, 12689 (10th Cir.
2013) (noting, in a § 1981 retaliation case arguing retaliation basedgaetdiacteind hostile work environment,
that “some of the alleged retaliatory actions would not support Batieta claim because they were not severe
enough to deter a reasonable person from claiming discrimination”).
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Second, the Court does not readrlington Northernto require a more lenient hostile
work environment theory. Although the Supreme Court’s reasoning and reading oféhélITitl
statute logically suggeshat its holding should extend to hostile work environment claims, the
holding was actually applied in the context of tehscrete retaliation claimsThe Court went on
to analyze each claim separately and did not apply a hostile work enviromment t Thus, it
does not appear thBurlingtonrequires that the Court disregard binding D.C. Circuit precedent.

Finally, aligning the retaliatory hostile work environment with the broadtaliation
standard couldesult in consequences not intended by Congress or the courts. Apart from the
difference in legal standards, a hostile work environment claim differs frdisceete retaliation
claim in at least two important ways. First, the hostile environment claim allows a plaintif
aggregate otherwise minor and lawful conduct into a single actionable &&oondthe hostile
environment exhaustion requirement is more permissive than that foetdisetaliation. A
claim is timely as long agist one of the alleged acts comprising the hostile work environment
falls within the statutory time period and the acts are part of the same unlawfiolyerapt
practice. Morgan, 536 U.S. at 122. This all@aplaintiffs tocombineacts committecbver a
period of many years, including acts by different supervjsais a single actionable clainbee
Vickers v. Powell493 F.3d 186, 199 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (holding that conduct of different types,
perpetrated bdifferent supervisors, and occurring over a span of at least eight years ragght m
the exhaustion requirement).

In short, although the Couldelieves thaBurlington Northernlogically suggests that
courts apply aifferent standard to retaliatory hostile work environment claims, the Guailirt
continue to apply the standard articulated by the D.C. Circuit. The Court declimeectoase

whether it would reach a different conclusion on Bergbauer’s claim under a statidaed
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with Burlington Northern Thus, 0 succeed on her claitoday,Bergbauer must show that she
suffered retaliatory harassment that was “sufficiently severe or pentasaler the conditions
of [her] employment Baird, 662 F.3d at 1250 (emphasis added).

b. Demonstrating causal connection

Whereas it can often be inferred that sexual harassment was “based on” the victim’s sex,
it is harderto show thaharassment was in retaliation for a victim’s protected activity.

In the context of direte retaliation cases, a plaintiff may satisfy her prima facie burden
to show a causal connection by showing that “the employer had knowledge of thgessplo
protected activity, and . . . the adverse personnel action took place shortly afisctitingt”
Mitchell v. Baldrige 759 F.2d 80, 86 (D.C. Cir. 1985). The temporal proximity used to support
an inference of causation must‘wery close,” i.e., less than three to four montBseeden 532
U.S.at273 (‘The cases that accept mere tempgraximity between an employer’s knowledge
of protected activity and an adverse employment action as sufficient evidenaeasality to
establish a prima facie case uniformly hold that the temporal proximity museiyeclose.”
(internal citations omiéd)).

Courts appear to have applied the “knowledge plus temporal proximity” standard to
hostile work environment claims as wetbee Na'im v. Clinton626 F. Supp. 2d 63, 81 (D.D.C.
2009) (rejecting retaliatory hostile work environment claim for failorelémonstrate temporal
proximity or provide direct evidencelNichols v. Truscoft424 F. Supp. 2d 124, 141 (D.D.C.
2006) (“A plaintiff may demonstrate such a causal connection [between harasanient
protected activity] by showing that her employer had knowledge of her proteciety aotd

that the adverse action took place shortly thereafter.”).
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However, the causation determination in the hostile work environment context is
somewhat more complex than that for discrete retaliation cldumgically, anly the actions that
have a causal linko protected activity may be considered part of a hostile work environment
claim. See Noviellp398 F.3d at 93 (“It is only those actions, directed at a complainant, that
stem from a retaliatory animus which may be factored into the hostile workoemant
calculus.”); Alvaradq 687 F.3d at 459Alfang, 294 F.3d at 377 [t'is . . . important in lostile
work environment cases to exclude from consideration personnel decisions thdir&eke of
correlation to the claimed ground of discrimination. Otherwise, the federal galittecome a
court of personnel appedls. Thus, some courts exclude from a hostile work environment claim
acts committed by individuals who were unaware of the plaintiff's protectedtadr acts for
which a causal connection cannot be showee Alvaradpo687 F.3d at 459 (“[THere must be
‘competent evidence that the alleged retaliakoieswof the plaintiff's protected activity and that
a retaliatory motive played a part . . . .” (internal citations omitted)). “[§bpervisor or other
employee is unaware of the fact that a plaintiff engaged in protected conduchctaoms
attributable to him could not plausibly have been induced by retaliatory motivkes.”

Although the D.C. Circuit has suggested that “close temporal relatiomship alone
establish the required causal connecti@itigletary 351 F.3d at 52femphasis added), this and
similar holdings appear to have been in the context of making puima facie caséor pure
retaliation clains. See Hamilton v. Geithne666 F.3d 1344, 1357 (D.C. Cir. 2012)F¢r
purposes of establishing a prima facie caderetaliation ‘[tlemporal proximity can indeed
support an inference of causation, but only where the two events are very close.’in time
(emphasis added) (internal citations omitte®)itchell v. Baldrige 759 F.2d 80, 86 (D.C. Cir.

1985) (“The causal connection compon@ftthe prima facie casenay be established by
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showing that the employer had knowledge of the employee’s protected adivitythat the
adverse personnel action took place shortly after that activity.”).

The Court assumes, as other courts have doneathktse temporal relationship may
support an inference of causation in a hostile work environment aelaihmay assist courts in
determining which actionare part of the allegelostile work environment. Howeven some
instances,temporal proximity alone may not sufficigntshow causation for purposes of
summary judgment or trial Hostile work environment cases do not typically apply the
McDonnell-Douglasburden shifting framework. Instead, the question is whether the plaintiff
based on a totality of the circumstances, has demonstrated causation sufficgntive
summary judgment or to succeed at trial. In contrast, the question at the gienatdge of a
pure retaliation claim is whether the plaintiff has demonstrageation sufficient to merely
make out a prima facie showingp which the defendant will have a chance to respofide
Hamilton, 666 F.3d at 1359 (“Considering the ‘minimal burden’ imposed at the prima facie
stage, we find the evidence sufficient to establish a prima facie case of mtdhatiOnce a
prima facie showing is made and a proferred-discriminatory explanation offered, “positive
evidence beyond mere proximity is required to defeat the presumption that the groffere
explanations are geme.” Woodruff v. Peters482 F.3d 521, 530 (D.C. Cir. 2007). Moreover,
it is for the district court to determine whether temporal proximity is enough, irotitext of
other evidence, to support a finding of causatiSmgletary 351 F.3d at 525 (remanding for the
district court to determine whether close temporal relationship, “in the casftetter evidence,

.. . persuades the court that the defendants unlawfully retaliated against thi€ plaint

2. Bergbauer Cannot Succeed on Her Retaliatory Hostile Work
Environment Claim
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Navy argues that, “[e]Jvemssuming that all of the alleged acts were motivated by
retaliation, the totality of the incidents . . . does not establish a pattern afe’sev&ervasive’
conduct that altered the conditions of [Bergbauer’s] working environment.” Defrs. e &

A. 18. It further ssertghat Bergbauer has not puttfoevidence, other than her own testimony,
to show a nexus between her protected activity and any allegedly reyadiation. The Court
agrees with Navy.

a. Alleged Retaliatory Conduct that May Not tecluded in the
Hostile Work Environment Claim

For various reasons, the Court will not consider as part oartlaéy/sisof Bergbauer’s
hostile work environment claim, any loss in pay based on poor performance Sauieive
removal of certain job duties from Bergbauer’s purviévFirst, these allegatiomeally concern
allegedlyconcrete or tangible employment actidhat are not appropriately brought as part of a
hostile work environment claim.The essence of a hostile work environment claim is that a
serious of acts, whichight not individually alter the terms or conditions of employméiais
collectively alteed suchterms. The claim is typically used for hagaeent, not for actions with a
tangible impact on pay or duties. For example, in the context of sexual haraskmst the
Supreme Court has noted the distinction:

When a plaintiff proves thattangible employment actiaesulted from a refusal

to submit to a supervisor's sexual demands, he or she establishethethat

employment decision itsatbnstitutes a change in the terms and conditions of

employment that is actionable under Title VIIFor any sexuaharassment

preceding the employment decisitmbe actionable, however, the conduct must
be severe or pervasive.

%t is unclear if Bergbauer considers her shift to al@Srather than a G$5, pay level to be a retaliatory act. As
the Court reads the remh this shift was the result of the transition of Naval civilian employeesetdtmeral
Schedule pay system. Bergbauer’s salary remained the same whéifttbiscsirred, Def.’'s MSJ, Ex. 1, at 3, and it
is possible that her assignment to-G&Swas infact based orthe amount of her salary at the time. In any case,
Bergbauer has not provided any evidence, beyond speculation by hersgffrar@amimi, to suggest that this action
either reduced her pay or was retaliatory.
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Burlington Indus., Inc. v. Ellerth624 U.S. 742, 7534 (1998) (emphasis added}; Reeves v.
C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc594 F.3d 798, 807 (11th CirO20) (“Disparate treatment can
take the formeither of a ‘tangible employment action,” such as a firing or demotion, or of a
‘hostile work environment’ that changes ‘the terms and conditions of employment, evgh thou
the employee is not discharged, demoted, or reassig(eaiphasis added)flaniz v. Zamora
Quezada 591 F.3d 761, 777 (5th Cir. 2009) (“[T]he threshold question is whether the
employee suffered a tangible employment action, and based on the answkinthis classified
aseithera hostile work environment or a quid pro quo claim. (emphasis added)).

It is true that tangible employment actiomay inform whethean employer should be
held vicariously liable for a hostile work environment. However, this is be@up®yers are
strictly liable for harassmemulminating ina tangible employment actiorseeFaragher v. City
of Boca Raton524 U.S. 775, 808 (1998).This is a different aspect of the hostile work
environment analysis that is relevant onlyhé plaintiff successfully shosvharassing conduct
that was sufficiently severe or pervasive as to alter the terms or conditibesemployment.

Moreover,the allegations above atiee sors of discrete retaliatory acts thedurts in our
Circuit frown on including in a broader hostile work environment claBaloch v. Norton517
F. Supp.2d 345, 364 (D.D.C2007) If Bergbauer wishes to challenge these actions directly, she

should bring distinct retaliation claims, assuming she can show that they have thmestek’

?"The Court is aware of the D.Circuit's statement that it “find[s] no authority for the idémat particular acts
cannot as a matter of law simultaneously support different types ofVIitldaims . . .,” Baird, 662 F.3d at 1252,
and that courts may not “dismiss a hostile work emunent claimmerelybecause it contains discrete acts that the
plaintiff claims (correctly or incorrectly) are actionable on their owid: The Court agreethat a hostile work
environment claim is necessarily comprised of discrete acts whigthtygcomprise a single unlawful practice.
However, the practical impact of allowing tangible employment activhgzh have not been exhausted, to be
included in a hostile work environment claim would be to allow emploteesrcumvent Title VII's exhaustion
requirements and, assuming tliae single tangibleevent is actionable, to allow any remotely related, but minor,
actions by the employer to also be actionable. The discrete acts at i®aiedido not appear to have included
tangible employment actions and so the Circuit did not need to consider thtibigu&ee Baird v. Snowbarger
744 F. Supp. 2d 279, 294 (D.D.C. 20H¥d in part, vacated in part sub nom. Baird v. Gotbai®2 F.3d 1246
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Even if the Court were to include these allegations Bergbaues hostile work
environment claimshe hadailed to sufficientlyshowa causal connection with respect to these
incidents. Again, causation may be inferred based on a showing that the employer knew of the
employee’s protected activity and the alleged retaliation occurred wiitga thonths or less of
the activity. BeforeJuly 3, 2008 at most only asmall group of peopleincluding RDML
McManamon knew that Bergbauer had complained about Goddard’s coxkfcs SMF | 20;

PI's SMF | 20. There is no evidence in the record that Deskins knew of Bergbauer’'s complaint
prior to early to mid-July; making all reasonablanferen@s in favor of Bergbauer Deskins
appears to have learned of her complairdundJuly 3 or in the weeks following.SeePl.’s

Opp’n, Ex. R, at 38, 56 (stating that Goddard did not mention Bergbauer's name to him and that
Deskins did not speak with her about the situation until weeks after Goddard announced that she
had “gone after him”). Bergbauer has presemtecdevidence thaDeskins knewshe made a

formal complaint on September 15, 2008 or that she filed suit in June B@dgbauer has also
providedno evidence that haubsequerdupervisor, Craig McKay, or “senior leadership” above

him were aware of any of hariginal protected activity, mch lessany protected activity in

which she engaged around the time of her second performance review in January 2010.

Thus, the combination of knowledge and temporal proximity do not suppatisal
connection between Bergbauer’s protected activityaarydof the actions listed abov®eskins’
“‘unwarranted” performance review of Bergbauwexs givenin Janary 2009 four months after
thefiling of herformal charge.Thus, even if he knew of that charge, the temporal delay defeats

a causal inference. Bergbauer received her next “poor” performance t@ged on a decision

(D.C. Cir. 2011) (describing a hostile work environment claim basednflammatory, defamatory, libelous, and

intimidating emailg’ “unfounded, harmful allegations about Plairitifais well as verbal assault, physical
intimidation, and harassment)Findly, the Court here does nalismissthe plaintiff's claim merely because it

includes discrete acts, rather the Court simply excludes frenarhlysis of the hostile work environment claim
these discrete acts and provides additional reasons for doing so.
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by “senior leadership” in JanuaBP1Q at least six months after she filed this séiain, it is
not clear that leadership knew of her activity and there is a large tengawa® Finally,
Bergbauetost responsibilityover IT and securityn early 2011, long after any of hprotected
activity.

Bergbauer haslso failed to preserdufficient additional evidenceto showthat these
events were causally related to peotected activity.With respect to the removal of duties over
IT and security, the record suggests that this decision was made solelgigpyMCKayin early
2011 Pl’'s Opp'n, Ex. M, at 2586.?° Although Sam Samimi speculated thgtese
responsibilities were removed froBergbauer’'s purview because of her protected activity, he
provides no factual basis for this assertion. Pl.’s Opp’'n, Ex. N, at 51. Moreover, MtiKeag
that the basis for his decision was the growth and complexity of the organizhtioithere is
also no indication in the record that McKay knew of Bergbauer’s protected activiballyf-
McKay had previously recommended a high performance rating for Bergbhusrfurther
undercutting any indication of retaliatory intent on his part.

With respet to the performance review by Deskins, Bergbauer now asserts that her
“poor” rating was retaliatory. However, she explicitly disclaimed any redajiantent when she
administratively appealed that ratingSeePl.’s Opp’n, Ex. E, at 8 (“I am not allegg that

prohibited discrimination or reprisal occurred in relation to the challengied & record or job

2 Assuming the individuals comprising “senior leadership” kne\Befgbauer's protected activity, perhaps a court
could find temporal proximity based on the ongoing litigation that begamim 2009. However, this would subject
employers to continuoussk of retaliation suits once litigation commences. Moreover, the Dr€uiCdoes not
appear to require such an expansive temporal proximity stan&arel.Taylor v. Soli$71 F.3d 1313, 1322 (D.C.
Cir. 2009) (rejecting argument that action two and-lbaé months after filing of first lawsuit demonstrated
sufficient temporal proximity).

29 sam Samimi’s testimony on this point differs slightly, but may w@taty be consistent. In response to a question
about when IT and security were taken from BeugloaSam Samimi testified “It pretty much started when Mr.
Deskins came into the position . . . that's whesldawly started . . . and then they broke up the position.” Pl.’s
Opp’'n, Ex. N, at 51 (emphasis added). This testimony is not specdiggertosuggest that the change in her

responsibilities occurred earlier than the date reported by McKay.
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objective rating . . . .”). Moreover, the performance review itself provides a number of
justifications for the rating, including conflicts Bergiest had with some of her staff and other
Navy employees, and her failure to complete certain tasks. Def.’s MSJ1,0Exat 10, 16.
Bergbauer disputed some justifications for the reveeePl.’s Opp’n, Ex. E, at-% (suggesting

two of the employees who complained had a history of low performance and comgaingt a
supervisorsand suggesting that certain delays were attributable to failures by othersyenpw
she also agreed with the assessment of her “poor communication with SEA 10” andchstated t
the SEA 10 HR Specialist obviously didn’t like heee idat 56 (suggesting that she should not
blamed for this). The record suggests that Bergbauer’s first requestcorsideration of her
rating was denied by the Pay Pool Manager, which furtleakens the inference of retaliatory
motive on Deskins’ part. See Pl.’'s Opp’n, Ex. E (appealing decision on request for
reconsideration of rating); Def.'s MSJ, Ex. 10 (listing Wilmot Summerall as‘Rag Pool
Manager” on the associated review form).

The Court is troubled by RDML McManamon’s statement, in July 2008, that he could
influence Bergbauer’s performance reviews if she did not keep him happgpit® Navy’'s
recent assertion that Bergbauer has “failed to present any evidence that Mck&mawahat
she had alleged harassment by Goddard,” Def.’s Reply 12, ECF No. 64, Navy has Bssential
conceded this point by stipulating that McManamon said, “you’re not going to do to me what
you did to the other admiral.” Def.’s SMF § 18. Making all reasonafdesnces in favor of the
nonmoving party at this stage, the Court infers that McManamon was aware bbh&eggs
complaint by early July 2008. Nevertheless, Bergbauer has presented no evitEnce t
McManamon ever followed through on his threat. Thaversation between Bergbauer and

McManamon was private and took place behind closed doors in McManamon’'s office.
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Bergbauer nowhere asserts, much less provides evidence, that McManamon cotathtimEa
to Deskins or her other supervisors or acted amany way.

The Court also does not believe that Bergbauer has satisfied her burden to shaal a caus
connection between Deskins’ request that she be “fired and arrested” for allageatging
another employee. The record suggests that this request occurred around the endvbfedune
the NAVINSGEN report was released, before Deskins became Bergbauer's supands
before he knew of her protected activityeePl.’s Opp’n, Ex. D, at 1088. However, given the
Court’s uncertainty about the facts surrounding this event, the Courtevgéirthelesenclude it
in the analysis below.

b. Remainingalleged harassmenbtactionable

With respect to the other alleged retaliatory ésethe Court finds that Bergbauer has
met the minimal burden of showing that they were committed by actors who knéer of
protected activity and that thewere temporally close to that activity The remaining
allegations include:McManamon’s comment regarding Bergbauer's performance reviews
(assuming that this should be considered ssparateetaliatory act and natolely asevidence
of McManamon'’s retaliatory intent)ylcManamors reassignment oBergbauer to work with
Deskins, despite knowing that the two did not get along; Goddard’s announdenvantous
staff that Bergbauer had “gone after him”; and various acBdskins.

Based on the standard used in this Cirdddrgbauerhas failed to show that she was
subjected to a hostile work environmbe “The key terms . . . are ‘severe,’ ‘pervasive,’ and

‘abusive,’ as not just any offensive or discriminatory conduct rises to amalste hostile work

%0 Although Bergbauer does not provide exact dates for the alleged retaliatong dtiDeskins, the actions largely
track those she complained of in her September 2008 EEO complaint. SeeM%¥,’Ex. 9. Thus, the actions had
to have occurred between July 2008 when Deskins became her supervisor autidésar protected activity and

September 2008. This is sufficient to show a temporal connection.
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environment.” Bell v. Gonzales398 F. Supp. 2d 78, 992 (D.D.C. 2005). In assessing hostile
work environment claims, courts look to the totality of the circumstances, inclutling
frequency of the discriminatory conduct; its severity; whether it is physidalBatening or
humiliating, or a mere offensive utterance; and whether it unreasonablyeieservith an
employee’s work performanceHarris, 510 U.S. at 23.

It seemghat all of the remaining conduct took place over just three to six months, from
July 2008 to September 2008 or January 2009, aed i appear to have continued beyond
that period. Seesupran.31; Pl’s Opp’'n, Ex. D, at 151; Def.’s MSJ, Ex. 1While this
strengthens an inference that the conduct was frequent, it also undezcanguiment that it was
particularly severe.

Only someof the incidents come close to being threatening, humiliating, or insulting
First, the statemenby McManamon regarding Bergbauer’s performance revaawears to be at
least somewhahreatening. HoweveBergbauer has presented no evidence that McManamon
ever communicated his threat to her supervisors or tried to intimidate hezrfuibleskins’
comparison of Bergbauer to sandpaper does not appear particularly insulting,llgsgiaca he
compared himself with sandpaper as wélurther, Deskins request that Bergbauer be fired and
arrested was not made in her presence and she onlydearitdrom another employee. See
Jones v. Billington12 F.Supp.2d 1, 12 (D.D.C. 1997) (plaintiff's report that he heard that racial
remarks were being made against him, but not in his presence, was r¢rsiffsevere as to
createa hostile working environment). Finally, the comment by Goddard was admittetly hig
unfortunate and unprofessional and it likely embarrassed Bergbauer. HoRerghauer does
not provide the Court with sufficient information to determine the real impact oéthark. She

states that it was humiliating in part because Goddard said it just days dé&ey dimesrticle
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that included “explicit and embarrassing details” of the San DiegoHqwever, that article has
not been provided to the Cownd the only relevant article the Court can find was not published
until September 2008.

Most of theremaining incidentarethe types ofvork-related disputes not actionable as a
hostile work environment claim. For exampgiésManamon reassigned Beugler to work for a
supervisorwith whom she did not get alongHowever, Bergbauer has presented no evidence,
other than her own speculation, to suggest this was retaliatory. Moreover, tihgnreass was
made upon the retirement of her previous supervisor. This is the sort of personnel de&ision t
employers ratinely make. The other incidents complained of include tbaskins gave
Bergbaueshort time periods in which to complete assignsidm did not standp for her when
an admiral complained about something she had done at Dedketwtion; he did nokeepher
informed about workelated matters; he cancelatleast onavork trip at the last minuteThese
simply do not rise to the level of “severe or pervasive” as defined in our Circuit. Ethen i
Court were to consider the “poor” performance review by Deskins in this andlysireview is
exclusively concerned with actual work performance. It contains no abusigeaze and
presents, in a fairly detached fashion, the areas in which Deskins believBsrtiizauer’'s work
performance wa not up to par. Occasional instances of less favorable treatment involving

ordinary daily workplace decisions are not sufficient to establish a hostile workmemeint?

31 Moreover, Goddard had been relieved of his position at the time he mad@mbiuncement and was not acting in
a supervisory capacity, thus, vicarious liability would depend orthgnéNavy knew (or reasonably should have
known) about the harassment Hatled to take appropriate remedial action. Given that this was dirnee
comment and that Navy promptly investigated Goddard’s comrrs, Opp’n, Ex. Q, it appears unlikely that
Navy could be held liable based on this comment.

32 5ee Brooks v. Grundmn 851 F. Supp. 2d 1-8 (D.D.C. 2012) (holding that no reasonable jury could find a
hostile work environment where supervig@aveplaintiff negative performance appraisals, criticized her, increased
scrutiny of her workraised his voice during meetjs, slammed his hand on the table, angrily threw a notebook in
her directionandplaced her in a “Team of One,” which isolated her from her coworkses)also idat 6 (“[N]Jon-
selection for a desirable position, assignment to undesirable dinzes)gsa small office, and being criticized by
supervisors do not establish a hostile work environment.” (citeitch v. England471 F.3d 124, 1361 (D.C. Cir.
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Moreover, although Bergbauer met the minimal burden of showing temporal pgoximit
with respet to Deskins’ actions, the record suggests a lack of causal connection between the
actions and Bergbauerjsrotected activity. First, there is evidence of a personality conflict
between Deskins and Bergbauer even prior to her protected activity and prior to fier bein
assigned to work under DeskinSeePl.’s Opp’n, Ex. D, at 72 (“Our operating methods never
were cohesive; they were always in direct conflict with each otherg&yglBwuer herself alleges
that Deskins had poor communications skills and could not lead, which would suggest that the
complainedof conductwasless a response to Bergbauer’'s protketetivity and more a function
of Deskins’ management style Pl’'s Mem. P. & A. at 17 (citing Pl.’s Opp’'n, Ex. |1, at 4.).
Deskins also appears to have had conflicts with a number of other employees, not just

Bergbauer. SeeStmt. of Tammy Bergbauer, B.Opp’n, Ex. D, at 30 (“[Deskins] didn’t like

2006)); Nurriddin v. Bolden 674 F. Supp. 2d 64, 94 (D.D.C. 2009) (finding insufficient to state a hostille w
environment claim plaintiff's allegations that “management passedtien for performance awards, lowered his
performance evaluations, unfairly reprimanded and criticized him, megbardging remarks about his EEO
complaints, closely scrutinized his work, refused him a window aibiemoved some of his duties, . . . denied his
requests to travel or otherwise failed to provide support for his wotk stégiffing and funding[, . . . ] den[ied] a
noncompetitive promotion, den[ied] a withgmade increase, and oppos[ed] his transfer to another office or detall
assignment”)Rattigan v. Gonzale$03 F. Supp. 2d 56, 782 (D.D.C. 2007) (finding insufficiertb state a hostile
work environment claim allegations of denial of personnel and adssurces, investigations and monitoring of
plaintiff, undermining of plaintiff's authority by excluding him frocommunications and meetings and cutting him
out of thechain of command, allegedly discriminatory comments andfeats;, and an alleged “demotion” to a
different position);see also id(“[These] are the type of employee grievances that can reasonably be expected to
arise in every workplace. These affrontay understandably have made plaintiff unhappy, but theyatieng
more than the ‘ordinary tribulations of the workplace’ which Titld ¥l not available to redress.” (quoting
Faragher, 524 U.S. at 788)Bell v. Gonzales398 F. Supp. 2d 78, 92 (D®. 2005) (granting summary judgment
to defendants where defendants “allegedly treated plaintiff as a éopnopersonality,” blamed him for workplace
conflict, monitored his behavior more closely than that of other grepk) excluded him from the infornaiain of
command and staff meetings, restricted his travel and teaching rassign restricted his high visibility projects,
reprimanded and criticized him, . . . spoke to him in derogatory terms fefgrring to plaintiff as having
“emotional problenis and calling him an “idiot”) . . . and reassign[ed] plaintiff’Bingh v. U.S. House of
Representatives300 F. Supp. 2d 48, 56 (D.D.C. 2004) (supervisor’s criticismlaifitiff's work and manner of
addressing her as well as nature of work assignmetpportunities afforded to plaintiff were not severe or
pervasive and instead were the “kinds of normal strains that can occur infieyseftting”); Richard v. Bell
Atlantic Corp, 209 F. Supp. 2d 23, 35 (D.D.C. 2002) (“[T]he type of conduct that][Wsalton complains of, i.e.,
rude comments, unjust criticism, and stressful working conditionmuat to “ordinary tribulations of the
workplace” that [is] insufficient as a matter of law for a Hestnvironment case.”)¢cf. Singletary 351 F.3d at
528-29 (remanding to the district court for a finding on the question of hegiilk environment when the plaintiff
had been forced to work in an unheated, unventilated storage room cantaioims and boxes of debris when
more suitable office space wasadsable).
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contractors and more than half of my staff at that time was contractors. He spoke dbem t
constantly.”). Additionally, Bergbauer’'s own statements suggest that Deakiims may have
represented an atnpt to gain power for himself rather than to retaliate against eePl.’s
Opp’n, Ex. D, at 70 (“Mark Deskins wanted control of Corporate Ops, had ever[] since he came
on board—in my opinion because he had no job and so he was looking for one nd]. [a
positioning himself to realign himself as a supervisor of Corporate Ops . .. .").

With respect to the letter of reprimand, the record suggests a legitimate battie for
action. The letter was issued in response to an email from Bergbauer to Déskhnet email,
she wrote, “I fail to recognize what part of my original reply you are lertabcomprehend . . . .
The fact that, yet again, you have taken it upon yourself to interjectgjour® a situation
regarding a member of my staff which you know little about . . . remains ingabt®iin my
mind.” Def.’'s MSJ, Ex. 11, at-b. Surely, a reasonable supervisor could perceive such
comments from a subordinate to be sufficiently “insolent” and “distf” to merit a letter of
reprimand. Further, Bergbauer presents no evidence to suggest that others behdsifyg sim
were able to avoid reprimands.

To the extent that Bergbauer attempts to point to the deposition testimony of others to
show a general “atmosphere of retribution,” including “rusii@nd “audible expletives” from
co-workers, this would not support her clainSeePl.’s Opp’n 1611, 1922 (quoting fact
witnesses discussing a generally negative “atmosphere” and commadts oatside of
Bergbauer’s presence). o@ments made outside tife employee'presence are generally not
actionable as the basis for a hostile work environment cl&eeMason v. Southern Ill. Univ. at
Carbondale,233 F.3d 1036, 1046 (7th Ci2000) (holding no hostile environment where co

worker told plaintiff that other employees hadlsed racial epithets and that ‘through the

43



grapevine’ or ‘seconthand’ conduct is not sditiently severe or pervasiveBillington, 12 F.
Supp. 2d at 12.

Although Bergbauer citethis Court’s prior Memorandum Opinion in suppaoit her
claim, she misconstrues thecision It is true that the Court stated, that “[Bergbauer] paints a
picture of hostile supervisors isolating her from coworkers and, ultimately, caesing receive
a pay reduction by means of warrantless reprintatters and retaliatory performance reviews.”
However, this sentence was housed between two sentences which made clearitbat¢uytt
was examining Bergbauer’s claims in the context of a motion to dismiss; and (2)utien@s
reciting only what Begbauer hadalleged not its own conclusions.SeeMem. Op. 1213
(“Bergbauer has said enough . to survive a motion to dismiss. . . . Whether this pattern of
conduct is as severe and pervasive as she makes it out to be will be determined through
discovery.”). With discovery now complete, the Court holds that the conduct is not severe or
pervasive to make out an actionable hostile work environment claim.

Finally, Bergbauerargues that that whether conduct was sufficiently severe or pervasive
is aquestion for the jury. Pl’s Mem. P. & A. 40//hile she cites twa@asesto support this
asserlibn, Armstrong v. Rendl72 F. Supp. 2d 11, 23 (D.D.C. 2001) (“Very rarely will such
factbased determinations be appropriate for determination on sumnugnyguat.”); Wade v.
Wash. Metro. Area Transit AuthCIV. 01-0334 (TFH), 2005 WL 1513137 (D.D.C. June 27,
2005) (“This analysis is the type of fact intensive inquiry that is the provinteegury. . . .

Once there is evidence of improper conduct andestitbe offense, as there is here, the
determination of whether the conduct rose to the level of abuse is largely in the hanels of th
jury.”), the fact remainghat courts in our circuit routinely decide Title VIl hostile work

environment claims on motiorisr summary judgmentSee supran.32 “Rule 56(c) mandates
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the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon motiont, agains
party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence tdraaerng essential to
that party’s case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at tGaldtex 477
U.S. at 322.
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons above, the Court will GRANT Navy's motion for summarynjedy
Although Bergbauer sufficiently exhausted her hostieek environment claim based on sexual
harassment, she cannot show that the harassment was sufficiently severesoreptyvise to
the level of a hostile work environment. SimilarlBergbauerhas not shown conduct
sufficiently severe or pervasivex with the required causal nexus, to make outlaam of
retaliatoryhostile work environment.

A separate Order consistent with this Memorandum Opinion shall issue this date.

Signed by Royce C. Lamberth, Chief JudgeMarch?27, 2013.
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